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The
Cover
Lopez Holdings Corporation is stepping up in better ways. As responsible
stewards, Lopez Holdings and investees place resources in sustainable enterprises
to respond to the needs of the nation now, as well as conserve natural wealth for
the use of future generations. Clean energy, responsive property development,
and lean manufacturing under First Philippine Holdings Corporation, and the
transformation of ABS-CBN Corporation into a nimble, knowledge-based, digital
company signal better ways of meeting the needs and wants of chosen markets
for the long term. Lopez Holdings and investees remain committed to uplifting
the lives of Filipino families, preparing together with them for an even better
future, wherever they find themselves in the world.
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THE
LOPEZ CREDO
Lopez Holdings officers and staff members in 2010 joined the adoption of the Lopez Credo,
a statement of purpose that puts the Lopez Group businesses in the service of God and the
Filipino people. It articulates seven values that guide corporate decisions and operations.
We, as employees of the Lopez Group of companies, believe that our primary reason for being is
to serve God and the Filipino people.
Thus, we shall always conduct ourselves in a manner that is mindful of the long-term mutual
benefit of the Lopez Group, and the various publics we serve.
We will be responsible stewards of all our resources, and conscious of our obligation to present
and future generations.
Since 1928, and in the years and generations to follow, our commitment to the distinctive Lopez
values will not change as we remain committed to serve our stakeholders.
In our
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

service to the Filipino people, we will be guided by the following distinct Lopez values:
A pioneering entrepreneurial spirit
Business excellence
Unity
Nationalism
Social justice
Integrity
Employee welfare and wellness

We know from generations of experience that it is by living according to these values that a
company can be built to last.
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L o p e z H o l d i n g s C o r p o ra t i o n

Lopez Holdings Corporation (PSE stock symbol: LPZ) is the controlling shareholder of leading
publicly listed company First Philippine Holdings Corporation (PSE: FPH) and has economic
interest in ABS-CBN Corporation (PSE: ABS). It derives its character from the Lopez family
(originally from Jaro, Iloilo, Philippines), that for nearly 200 years has espoused the values of
business excellence, nationalism, and social responsibility, among others.

CORPORATE HISTORY

Lopez Holdings was incorporated in 1993 by the Lopez family to serve as the holding company for
investments in major development sectors. Its current interests are in power generation, especially
in the development of clean, indigenous and/or renewable energy sources; and in multimedia
communications, including broadcast, cable and telecom.

Vision

A world class conglomerate committed to investments that improve the lives of Filipinos

Mission

Lopez Holdings will:
(1) invest in industries vital to nation-building;
(2) build on its strengths and competencies in its core power and media businesses;
(3) conduct business in a manner that is mindful of the long-term mutual benefit of the Lopez
Group, and the various publics it serves by living the Lopez Credo and its attendant values of a
pioneering spirit, business excellence, unity, nationalism, social justice, integrity, and employee
welfare and wellness; and
(4) provide the highest standard of service and value to its shareholders, affiliates, regulators,
creditors, employees and communities in which it operates.

Values

In fulfilling its mission to serve all Filipinos, Lopez Holdings adheres to the Lopez Values: a
pioneering entrepreneurial spirit, business excellence, unity, nationalism, social justice, integrity, and
employee welfare and wellness.
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS
AT A GLANCE

Lopez Holdings Corporation
The flagship holding company of the Lopez family with core investments in energy
pioneer First Philippine Holdings Corporation and multimedia leader
ABS-CBN Corporation
• Net income attributable to holders of the Parent at P6.557 billion, up by 6% year-on-year
• Received a total of P900 million in cash dividends from investees
• Paid P924 million in cash dividends to shareholders
(In Million Pesos, except per share amounts)
		
EARNINGS PER SHARE*
Basic
Diluted
CONSOLIDATED REVENUES
CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME
Attributable to:
Equity Holders of the Parent
Minority Interest
TOTAL CONSOLIDATED ASSETS
TOTAL EQUITY
MARKET VALUE
Per share
Total Value**

For the year ended December 31
2016
2015
2014
1.4206
1.4117

1.3496
1.3418

91,910
20,744

96,510
16,126

6,557
14,187
366,250
159,525
7.800
36,002

0.8188
0.8186

99,301
15,760
		
6,191
3,760
9,935
12,000
358,584
338,724
144,169
129,567
6.600
30,338

6.70		
30,767		

* attributable to equity holders of Parent
** based on average shares outstanding
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First Philippine Holdings Corporation
The leading private sector holding company with core investments in clean
power generation and renewable energy development, a minority stake in power
distribution and strategic investments in manufacturing and property development.
• Net income attributable to holders of the
parent rose 84% to P9.933 billion
• Consolidated revenues at P91.910 billion,

Revenues

(In Million Pesos)
99,301

Net Income*
(In Million Pesos)

9,933

96,510
91,910

down 5% year-on-year

5,632

5,406

* Net income attributable to holders of the Parent
2014

2015

2016

2014

2015

2016

ABS-CBN Corporation
The largest news and entertainment content provider in the Philippines that
produces multimedia programming for domestic and international audiences
• Net income attributable to holders of the
Parent at P3.885 billion, up by 33%

Revenues

(In Million Pesos)

year-on-year
• Consolidated revenues increased by

Net Income*
(In Million Pesos)

41,631
3,885

38,278

9% to P41.631 billion
33,544

2,932
2,387

* Net income attributable to holders of the Parent
2014
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Fellow shareholders:
In the year 2016, Lopez Holdings
Corporation climbed higher on the steps
toward sustainable growth, with major
investees choosing to help build the nation
in better ways.

First Gen Corporation (FGEN), consolidated
under investee First Philippine Holdings
Corporation (FPH), inaugurated two new
natural gas-fired power plants, increasing
its ability to generate power with the least
possible impact to the environment. FGEN
has chosen Flex-Plant technology for the San
Gabriel power plant, enabling it to serve its
customers’ varying power needs at all times
of the day. Its Avion power plant is designed
to immediately go online at peak times, when
power is needed the most.
FPH is continually exploring ways to meet our
country’s energy requirements in a manner that
will have the least impact on, or best conserve
our natural resources, as well as empower the
communities that provide manpower to its
endeavors.
Investee ABS-CBN Corporation quickly moved
into the digital space, with offerings of digital
terrestrial television (ABS-CBN TVplus), ondemand services (iWant TV, SKY Pay-perView, TVPlus Kapamilya Box Office), mobile
telephony (ABS-CBN Mobile), high definition
channels (via TVplus, SKY Cable and its
direct-to-home satellite service, SKYDirect),
and high-speed internet (SKY Broadband).
These innovations expand ABS-CBN’s reach
beyond the TV screen and cater to the needs

2016 Annual Report
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of the millennial generation that is used to
multiscreen viewing, or tuning in to information
and/or entertainment programs simultaneously
on multiple screens.
By making content accessible across a variety
of platforms, ABS-CBN is carefully laying the
foundations for rich, experiential encounters
with its audiences, who support its world-class
TV, film, music and event offerings, as well
as its home-grown artists who have become
formidable brands with solid social media
following.
All these initiatives take into account the
current needs of our customers across various
segments of society, as well as our other
stakeholders. Our stakeholders include not only
the people surrounding the areas where our
businesses operate, but also future generations
who will need the same resources we are using
to deliver much-needed services now.
In the case of power generation, we understand
that renewable sources of energy tend to
be intermittent because they are subject to
the vagaries of the weather—sun, wind and
rainwater. Recognizing this, we have chosen
natural gas for our plants because it is the
most environment-friendly bridge fuel. FGEN’s
natural gas-fired power plants are capable

of serving baseload, mid-merit or peaking
requirements of electricity consumers, with
lower carbon dioxide emissions compared to
power plants that use other kinds of fossil fuels.
Going forward, we renew our commitment
to our people’s aspirations for a better life,
a better country, and a better future. As the
country stays on track to achieve inclusive
growth in the medium term, our investments
will continue to support developmental
requirements for energy, infrastructure
and property development, as well as for
connectivity, communication and information,
in better ways.
The country’s gross domestic product (GDP)
increased by 6.8% in 2016, once again driven
by capital formation which grew by 20.8%. In
terms of industry, construction grew the fastest
at 12.6%, followed by finance and real estate at
8.5%, trade at 7.3% and manufacturing at 7.0%.
Although the industry sector grew by 8.0% in
2016, our economy remains driven by services,
as industry accounted for only 33.8% of total
GDP. The services sector grew by 7.5% and
accounted for 57.5% of GDP.
What this tells us is that the country’s
commercial sector will likely continue to drive
energy demand, which has been very much
the same case as in the previous 20 years.
Hence, we are all the more confident of FGEN’s
choice of the Flex-Plant technology for the
San Gabriel. It is truly appropriate because
it gives us the flexibility to serve the exact
requirements of electricity users, given the
nation’s development track.
At the same time, Rockwell Land Corporation, a
subsidiary of FPH, is expanding its commercial
space portfolio with the turnover of Rockwell
Business Center Sheridan within this year, 2017.
Like its predecessors, Rockwell Business Center
in Ortigas and 8 Rockwell in Rockwell Center,
Makati, Rockwell Business Center Sheridan will
offer premium office spaces and amenities,

complemented by curated retail shops to serve
the needs of its clientele.
We continue to offer light industry competitive
bases of operation through First Philippine
Industrial Park (FPIP), also a subsidiary of
FPH. FPIP locators have invariably given
park management superior customer service
and facilities management ratings. And with
Rockwell Land’s foray into affordable housing
through Stonewell, thousands of workers
employed at the park will have the opportunity
to experience the much-aspired Rockwell
lifestyle.
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Rockwell Business Center Sheridan will offer premium office spaces and
amenities, complemented by curated retail shops.

With our population estimated at 103.9
million as of the end of 2016, the demand for
basic necessities will further rise. Through
our associated companies, we will continue
to search for better ways to deliver our
commitments to customers. We will choose
sustainable ways to produce power; build
residences, offices and retail spaces; connect
with loved ones across our many islands and
overseas; and inspire with top quality content
that will bring out the best in every Filipino,
young or old alike.
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The board of directors, management and
staff of Lopez Holdings thank you for your
confidence in us.
Mabuhay!

AMBASSADOR MANUEL M. LOPEZ
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Report of the
President,
Chief Operating
Officer And
Chief Finance
Officer
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Fellow shareholders:
Lopez Holdings Corporation benefited
from the stellar performance of its major
investees in 2016, amid challenging
industry dynamics brought about by
increased competition and regulation.

Your company reported P6.557 billion in net
income attributable to equity holders of the
Parent for the year 2016. We received P900
million in cash dividends from First Philippine
Holdings Corporation (FPH) and ABS-CBN
Corporation (ABS-CBN) and other financial
assets. In the same year, we paid out P924
million in cash dividends to shareholders, the
sixth consecutive year of cash payouts.
ABS-CBN continued its transformation into
a digital company, offering a host of original
content on TV, cable, mobile and the internet.
This multi-platform approach was developed
over several years to respond to the needs of
new audiences, especially the youth whose
millennial lifestyles have increasingly shifted
to on-demand viewing, instead of scheduled
programming. ABS-CBN is making good on its
commitment to be there for its audiences, to
inform, entertain, inspire and connect them to
their loved ones all over the globe.
On the FPH side, its power holding company,
First Gen Corporation (FGEN) completed
two new natural gas-fired plants and began
selling to the grid in 2016. Adding a total of
511 MW in power generating capacity, FGEN is
in good position to respond to the expected
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rise in energy demand, while still being able to
contribute to cleaner air.
Natural gas is among the cleanest fossil fuels,
and is an ideal bridge fuel while renewable
energy prices are not yet at parity with the rest
of the grid. For this reason, FGEN continues
to work toward establishing a liquefied natural
gas terminal in its Clean Energy Complex
in Batangas. And any future expansion of
its generating capacity will continue to use
primarily natural gas, if not renewable sources
of energy.
Dividends Received and Paid Out
(In Million Pesos)
1000

924

900

800

825

816

600
463

463

400

200

0
2014

2015

2016

All our investees are ready to respond to
our nation’s needs, as we tread the path
to economic development, in ways that
look to the needs of future Filipinos as
well. Lopez Holdings and its investees have
long committed to sustainable growth. We
subscribe to the global movement for clean air,
clean water, and resilient communities, which
are turning out to be better ways to adapt
to climate change. Actions like caring for the
environment, educating the youth and reducing
waste are not only socially responsible, but also
financially prudent in the long term.
FPH will remain focused on growing all
its investments in the same manner as it
is growing its energy portfolio. Property
development through Rockwell Land
Corporation and First Philippine Industrial
Park, and manufacturing through First
Philec Corporation will continue to abide by
international standards in environment, safety
and health, as well as in quality management,
not only as part of our enterprise-wide
risk management system, but also as our
contribution to the millennium development
goals to which our foundations are aligned.
ABS-CBN will continue to explore ways to
serve its growing local and international
audiences through evidence-based research
that allows it to listen well and respond to
demand in a timely manner. Business in the
digital age happens quickly, but not easily.
There are countless instances of ‘here today,
gone tomorrow’ in the entertainment industry,
but digital shortens the day to hours, if not
minutes. The ‘man of the hour’ could be the
next minute’s has-been. For this reason, talent
development is a continuous process to
increase our pool of content creators, including
actors, directors, writers, news reporters,

cameramen, sound and image editors, and
other production crew. Even veteran artists
and news anchors have the opportunity to
learn and expand their horizons with ABS-CBN
University, an internal educational endeavor
to help our workforce adapt to business in the
digital setting.
Lopez Holdings is stepping up to the needs
of the moment in better ways. Its resources,
as well as those of investees, will support
sustainable development to create long-term
value for shareholders and other stakeholders.
As at December 31, 2016, your company had
remaining direct obligations of US$5 million in
restructured notes.
To date, Lopez Holdings owns 46% of FPH and
56% of ABS-CBN.
Thank you for keeping faith with your
management team.

Salvador G. Tirona
President, Chief Operating Officer
and Chief Finance Officer
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FPH is invested in green manufacturing through First Philec Corporation
2016 Annual Report
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Review
Of
Operations
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Lopez Holdings Corporation is a holding
company invested in leading Philippine
corporations: First Philippine Holdings
Corporation (FPH), which has investments
in sustainable energy development,
infrastructure, property development
and green manufacturing, and ABS-CBN
Corporation (ABS-CBN), the country’s
largest multimedia conglomerate. Lopez
Holdings, FPH and ABS-CBN are listed in
the Philippine Stock Exchange.

The company received a total of P880 million
in cash dividends from its major investees in
2016: P365 million from ABS-CBN and P515
million from FPH. This compares with P800
million in cash dividends received in 2015:
P289 million from ABS-CBN and P511 million
from FPH; and P801 million in cash dividends
received in 2014: P293 million from ABS-CBN
and P508 million from FPH.
Lopez Holdings declared a cash dividend
of P0.20 per share in 2016, P0.10 per share
annually in 2015 and 2014.
Lopez Holdings reported P6.557 billion in net
income attributable to equity holders of the
Parent in 2016, 6% higher than the P6.191 billion
in net income attributable to equity holders
of the Parent reported in 2015. The steady
performance of investees FPH and ABS-
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CBN accounted for the results. FPH, which is
consolidated by Lopez Holdings, also reported
one-off gains in 2016.
Consolidated revenues for the period
decreased by 5% year-on-year to P91.910 billion
from P96.510 billion.
As of December 31, 2016, Lopez Holdings had
remaining direct obligations of US$5 million
in restructured notes, compared to end-2015
debt levels of US$10 million and P26 million.
On a consolidated basis, total liabilities stood
at P206.725 billion at yearend-2016 versus
P214.415 billion at yearend-2015.

Power and
Energy

FPH reported an 84% increase in net
income attributable to equity holders of
the Parent to P9.933 billion in 2016 from
P5.406 billion in 2015. Its revenues were
lower by 5% at P91.910 billion compared to
P96.510 billion the previous year.
16
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Higher margins on the sale of electricity,
receipt of liquidated damages and arbitration
settlement proceeds by FPH subsidiaries, and
higher dividend income accounted for the
results. Sale of electricity accounted for 81% of
revenues in 2016 versus 86% in 2015.
FPH paid out cash dividends totaling P2.00 per
share to common shareholders and P13.75 to
preferred shareholders for the year 2016.
FPH extended its common shares buy-back
program from July 2016 to July 2018 for up
to P6.0 billion. The original program began in
2010 and was extended for two years in 2012,
and for another two years in 2014. The program
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aims to strike a balance between enhancing the
company’s capital structure and maintaining
the ability to fund future growth and
investments. By the end of 2016, some P3.526
billion worth of shares have been purchased
out of the P6.0 billion funding approved by the
FPH board for the purpose.
Meanwhile, with respect to disputes and
proceedings between First Philec and
First Philec Solar Corporation (FPSC) with
SunPower Philippines Manufacturing Limited
(SPML), such disputes were settled and as
a result, First Philec, FPSC and SPML filed
the appropriate Consent Order, motions or

manifestation and have done all such things
as are reasonably necessary in order to
discontinue, terminate or dismiss (as the case
may be) all the legal proceedings that were
pending between them in Hong Kong and in
the Philippines.
Under the terms of their settlement, SPML paid
FPSC US$25,239,860 (which is equal to the full
amount that SPML was ordered to pay FPSC in
the arbitration), and First Philec US$25,260,140,
and transferred all of SPML’s shares of stock in
FPSC to First Philec.
FPSC is a joint venture company established by
First Philec and SPML. SPML is a wholly owned
subsidiary of SunPower Corporation, a US
corporation focusing on the solar industry and
listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.
FGEN is the leading clean and renewable
energy company in the Philippines with an
installed capacity of 3,468 MW as of
December 31, 2016. It paid cash dividends of
P0.35 per common share annually in 2016, 2015
and 2014.  
In 2016, FGEN reported 19% year-on-year
increase in net income attributable to equity
holders of the Parent to US$200 million
from US$167 million. Consolidated revenues
decreased by 15% to US$1.561 billion from
US$1.836 billion. The FGEN gas plants
accounted for US$834.8 million, or 54% of the
total consolidated revenues. FGEN subsidiary
Energy Development Corporation (EDC)
accounted for US$675.6 million, or 43%, of
the total. First Gen Hydro Power Corporation
contributed US$49.12 million of revenues, or 3%.  
FGEN completed its 414-MW San Gabriel
combined cycle and 97-MW Avion open cycle
natural gas-fired plants at the First Gen Clean
Energy Complex in Batangas. San Gabriel is
the country’s first Flex-Plant. The Flex-Plant
technology helps enable a more stable and

reliable grid amid increasing installations of
intermittent energy. The San Gabriel FlexPlant can be turned on (and off) on a daily
basis in time to serve the power requirements
of schools, offices and shopping malls. San
Gabriel likewise has the ability of being a
baseload power plant providing 24/7 service;
hence, the Flex-Plant terminology. Avion,
which can run on either natural gas or diesel, is
designed as a peaking plant, capable of coming
online in six minutes and achieving full load in
less than 20 minutes. Commercial operations
began in September 2016 for Avion and in
November 2016 for San Gabriel.
FGEN extended its share buy-back programs
from June 1, 2016 to May 31, 2018 for up to
300 million FGEN common shares and up to
P10 billion worth of FGEN Series F and Series
G preferred shares under the same terms and
conditions as the original buyback programs.
The buyback of common and preferred shares
does not involve active and widespread
solicitation from the stockholders in general.
It is undertaken only to the extent that the
transaction is deemed advantageous to the
company and enhances shareholder value.
As of the end of 2016, a total of 10,010 FGEN
Series F preferred shares and 5,026,280 FGEN
Series G preferred shares have been purchased
under the program.
FGEN has three proposed run-of-river hydro
projects in Mindanao with a combined potential
output of 95 MW. FGEN estimates project
costs of US$5-6 million per megawatt for the
32-MW Bubunawan, 30-MW Puyo and 33-MW
Tagoloan run-of-river projects. Planned capital
expenditures for the Bubunawan project is
expected to cover 42 months of construction.
Meanwhile, site preparation began last year
for FGEN’s planned liquefied natural gas
(LNG) import terminal. The company spent
approximately $6 million in 2016 for predevelopment work, including the elevation of
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FGEN added a total of 511 MW of capacity at its Clean Energy Complex with the
inauguration of Avion and San Gabriel power plants in 2016.
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The Masiway spillway is located within the
Pantabangan-Masiway Hydroelectric Complex
in Nueva Ecija.

for a green future, with a clean energy portfolio
consisting of 1,169 MW of geothermal, 150 MW
of wind, 132 MW of hydro and 7MW of solar
energy. It declared cash dividends to common
shareholders totaling P0.12 per share in 2016,
P0.21 per share in 2015, and P0.20 per share in
2014.
EDC posted a consolidated recurring net
income attributable to equity holders of
the Parent of P9.2 billion in 2016, 4% higher
than P8.8 billion in 2015, as EDC successfully
lowered operating expenses. Consolidated
revenues decreased marginally to P34.2 billion
from P34.4 billion the previous year, affected
by record-low electricity spot market prices
despite higher sales volumes firm-wide.
Inclusive of nonrecurring items, consolidated
net income attributable to equity holders of the
Parent stood at P9.35 billion, 23% higher than
P7.6 billion in 2015.
In June 2016, the company executed a loan
agreement with Union Bank of the Philippines
for the total amount of P5.0 billion.

the site. The LNG terminal project is expected
to be completed by 2022 to coincide with
the expiration of the company’s gas sale and
purchase agreements. FGEN is in discussions
with potential joint venture partners, as well as
an engineering, procurement and construction
contractor, for the project.
EDC celebrated 40 years of corporate
existence in 2016. Together with and its
subsidiaries, it has made a strong foundation

EDC bought back shares pursuant to a share
buyback program approved by its board of
directors. By the end of 2016, EDC had bought
back P73.511 million worth of shares, out of
the P4.0 billion approved by its board for the
purpose. The company started buying back
shares in December 2015.
EDC budgeted P14 billion for capital
expenditures in 2016 with P4.3 billion allotted
for the rehabilitation of the three-unit, 112.5
MW Tongonan geothermal power plant.
Full retrofitting works began in 2016 with
the rehabilitation of all units expected to be
completed in 2017.
Bac-Man Geothermal, Inc. (BGI), a wholly
owned subsidiary of EDC, satisfactorily
settled all claims under its contract with
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Weir Engineering Services, Ltd. (Weir),
contractor for the rehabilitation works on
three units of the Bacon-Manito (Bacman)
geothermal power plant. BGI and Weir
jointly took steps to discontinue arbitration
proceedings between them. BGI also
successfully entered into a settlement
agreement with its insurers in relation to BGI
claims for loss, damage and costs related to
the restoration of its Bacman Unit 2 to full
operation following an incident that occurred
in February 2013. All Bacman units were

operational as of the end of 2016 with a gross
output of 140 MW.
EDC has wind service contract areas approved
by the Department of Energy. The company
is authorized to conduct grid impact studies
for potential wind power projects in Matnog,
Sorsogon; Batad, San Dionisio and Concepcion,
Iloilo; and Burgos, Ilocos Norte.
EDC also ventured into solar rooftop
installation in 2016, together with First Gen
Energy Solutions, Inc.

EDC may add to the 150 MW capacity of its Burgos Wind Project, depending on the results
of studies authorized by the Department of Energy.

2016 Annual Report
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Media and
Communications

ABS-CBN reported a 39% increase in
net income in 2016 to P3.525 billion
from P2.545 billion, on account of solid
advertising revenues, boosted by electionrelated advertisements, and a recovery in
consumer sales.
22
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Net revenues reached P41.631 billion, 9%
higher than P38.278 billion in 2015. Ad sales
accounted for 57% of ABS-CBN revenues in
2016, compared to 56% in 2015.
The media conglomerate declared a cash
dividend of P0.75 per common share in 2016,
and P0.60 per common share annually in 2015
and 2014.
ABS-CBN signed a 10-year, P4.75 billion loan
agreement with Union Bank of the Philippines
in March 2016 to refinance a syndicated loan
acquired in 2010.
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ABS-CBN’s trailblazing pricing model, CPIRP
or “cost per individual rating point”, gave
advertisers measurable indicators on the
reach of their material. The CPIRP, which
became effective in May 2015, is based on the
globally accepted and proven “cost per target
audience rating point” (CTARP) and replaces
the traditional practice of applying a fixed
cost on ad placements regardless of program
performance. CPIRP rates vary each day based
on the actual number of people reached by a
chosen TV show.

In 2016, ABS-CBN led nationwide ratings in the noontime block (12 noon-3 p.m.),
starting with ‘It’s Showtime’.

ABS-CBN programs remained unbeaten in
nationwide ratings, satisfying advertisers and
audiences alike. According to multinational
audience measurement provider Kantar Media,
ABS-CBN Channel 2 topped all networks with
an average audience share of 45% throughout
2016 from January to December across both
urban and rural homes. Kantar Media uses
a nationwide panel size of 2,610 urban and
rural homes that represent 100% of the total
Philippine TV viewing population.

Across all time blocks, ABS-CBN remained on
top especially in primetime (6PM-12MN) where
it scored 49%. The primetime block is the most
important part of the day when most Filipinos
watch TV and advertisers put a larger chunk of
their investment in to reach more consumers
effectively. ABS-CBN also led the morning
block (6AM-12NN) with 39%, the noontime
block (12NN-3PM) with 44%, and the afternoon
block (3PM-6PM) with 44%.
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Meanwhile, ABS-CBN topped the list of most
watched programs for 2016 and produced 16
out of the top 20 regularly airing programs
from January to December 2016 (excluding
Holy week). Taking the lead on the top spot
is “FPJ’s Ang Probinsyano” (40%) followed
by the “The Voice Kids” (37.6%), “Pangako Sa
‘Yo” (34.3%), “Dolce Amore” (33.8%), “Pilipinas
Got Talent” (31.9%), “Dance Kids” (31%),
“Wansapanataym” (30.7%), “TV Patrol” (30.6%),
“Pinoy Boyband Superstar” (30%), and “MMK
25” (29.9%).

ABS-CBN’s special “PiliPinas Debates 2016”
was the most watched program for 2016
scoring a national TV rating of 40.6%. Other
one-time specials such as “Meron Akong
Kwento: Ang Himig ng Buhay Ko” (32.9%) and
“Halalan 2016 Ang Huling Harapan” (25.7%)
also made the list of top 20 most watched
programs for 2016 (combined regular and
special programs).

TOP 10 MOST WATCHED REGULARLY AIRING PROGRAMS IN 2016
(EXCLUDING SPECIALS)
Rank

Channel

1

ABS-CBN

FPJ’S ANG PROBINSYANO

40.0

2

ABS-CBN

THE VOICE KIDS

37.6

3

ABS-CBN

PANGAKO SA’YO

34.3

4

ABS-CBN

DOLCE AMORE

33.8

5

ABS-CBN

PILIPINAS GOT TALENT

31.9

6

ABS-CBN

DANCE KIDS

31.0

7

ABS-CBN

WANSAPANATAYM

30.7

8

ABS-CBN

TV PATROL

30.6

9

ABS-CBN

PINOY BOYBAND SUPERSTAR

30.0

10

ABS-CBN

MMK 25

29.9
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ABS-CBN also maintained its leadership in
digital through iWant TV, its pioneering videoon-demand service and the leading OTT (overthe-top) platform in the country, with at least
six million subscribers. Rapidly transitioning
into a digital company, ABS-CBN leads all
media networks in bringing its content online
to address the change in the Filipinos’ viewing
habits.
ABS-CBN partnered with Philippine Long
Distance Telephone Company (PLDT) and
Smart Communications, Inc. (Smart) to

make iWant TV available to PLDT and Smart
subscribers. Launched in 2007, iWant TV is the
leading source of online content, offering ondemand catch-up and live stream viewing of
ABS-CBN programs, local and foreign movies,
and original or exclusive content.
ABS-CBN signed with Ayala Malls to open the
first ABS-CBN Experience Store in Trinoma, an
Ayala mall in Quezon City. It will offer fresh and
exciting retail experiences as ABS-CBN delivers
an immersive experience of its stories and
characters from its massive library.
ABS-CBN also leads in the local music, film,
cable TV, and publishing industries and is also
the pioneer of digital television in the country.
Launched in February 2015, ABS-CBN TVplus
ended 2016 with over two million boxes sold
nationwide.
ABS-CBN News Channel (ANC) opened a new
studio in 8 Rockwell, Makati City, enhancing
its news gathering and delivery, especially for
business.

ABS-CBN Mobile subscribers have access
to on-demand video via iWantTV and KBO
(Kapamilya Box Office), an original offering
of ABS-CBN TVplus.

ABS-CBN subsidiary SKY Cable Corporation
(SKY) launched SKYdirect, its direct-to-home
digital service available nationwide. SKYdirect
gives subscribers superior programming with
a channel line-up rich in exclusive content,
including high definition (HD) channels in every
must-have genre. With the service available
for as low as P99 for 30 days on prepaid,
SKYdirect offers more value at affordable price
points. The P99 load already includes four
HD channels, such as NBA Premium HD and
Cartoon Network HD, aside from 22 standarddefinition (SD) channels. Higher tiers add more
HD and SD channels. SKYdirect is also available
via postpaid subscription plans.
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ABS-CBN news anchor Julius Babao and Bernadette Sembrano-Aguinaldo (both seated)
are shown at the DZMM radio booth, viewable on DZMM Teleradyo.
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Sustainability
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Sustainable development has been defined
as “development that meets the needs
of the present without compromising
the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs.” (Our Common Future,
1987) Corporate social responsibility
(CSR) is now integrated into this discipline
which calls for the convergence of
economic development, social equity and
environmental protection.

In 2016, Lopez Holdings Corporation invested
P2.8 million in sustaining the operations of
Lopez Group Foundation, Inc. (LGFI) and
its member foundations, particularly in the
areas of arts and culture through Eugenio
Lopez Foundation, Inc. which administers
the Lopez Museum and Library; disaster
relief and rehabilitation through ABSCBN Lingkod Kapamilya Foundation, Inc.
(ALKFI); and education through Knowledge
Channel Foundation, Inc. (KCFI) and Phil-Asia
Assistance Foundation, Inc. (PAAFI). These
causes are consistent with its vision to improve
the lives of Filipinos.

Lopez Group Foundation, Inc. (LGFI)
In 2016, LGFI raised the awareness of Lopez
Group members on sustainable development
goals (SDGs) adopted by the United Nations
Member States, including the Philippines,
in a bid to end poverty, fight inequality
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and injustice, and tackle climate change. It
continued its efforts to improve organizational
efficiency and effectiveness among its
members and the Lopez Group CSR Council
by conducting two workshops: Project Cycle
Management and Regulatory Requirements for
Non-Profits.
LGFI, which is certified by the Philippine
Council for NGO Certification (PCNC) and
an auxiliary social welfare and development
organization registered with the Department
of Social Welfare and Development (DSWD),
began to pilot test a group-wide volunteerism
initiative by identifying one school where the
efforts of various Lopez Group companies
could be harnessed. The expressed needs
and wants of the students and the school’s
teaching and non-teaching personnel were
synthesized into areas covering human
resources development, office administration
and finance, personality and development and

other special topics. The same school benefited
from the Brigada Eskwela effort, which involves
the cleaning, repair and overall preparation of
classrooms and other physical facilities for the
new school year.
A follow-up volunteering activity was held
by yearend, wherein employees packed and
distributed Christmas gifts for more than 1,000
scholars of Phil-Asia Assistance Foundation,
Inc. (PAAFI).
LGFI’s livelihood efforts for the year focused
on micro and small enterprises in the Province
of Guimaras, where it worked with the
Department of Trade and Industry (DTI)Region VI. It was recognized as one of the
department’s partners in the implementation
of programs and services. LGFI was also reaccredited as Civil Society Organization (CSO)
in Guimaras for 2016-2019, in recognition of its
work in the province.

Eugenio Lopez Foundation, Inc. /
Lopez Museum and Library
The Lopez Museum and Library ran the
exhibition Drawing the Lines from February
24 to July 8, 2016. The exhibition presented
editorial cartoons and illustrations by artists
Francisco Coching, Danilo Dalena, Neil
Doloricon, E.Z. Izon, Dengcoy Miel, Dante Perez,
Jose Tence Ruiz and Pinggot Zulueta.
Cartoonists Doloricon and Ruiz were featured
in Artist Talk, where they shared art practices
and experiences as illustrators. History
professor and newspaper columnist Dr. Ambeth
Ocampo gave a lecture, Telembang! Pakakak!
Buntut Pague!, that showcased illustrations
from the Spanish and American periods in
Philippine history rendered by the likes of Jose
Pereira, Jorge Pineda and Fernando Amorsolo,
among others. Cartoonists Manix Abrera and
Gilbert Daroy spoke at Drawing for Juan,

LGFI led the Brigada Eskwela effort of Lopez Group volunteers for a pilot school.
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where they talked about individual practices as
illustrators. A panel discussion on censorship
under martial law, “Newsroom Shutdown”, had
Pete Lacaba, Ceres Doyo and Vergel Santos as
speakers.

UP Geography students closely examine images
from the Lopez Museum and Library Collection.

In partnership with the Film Development
Council of the Philippines and Cinematheque
Manila, the Lopez Museum and Library hosted
a successful run of its film screening event,
Replay, featuring back-to-back screenings of
Aparisyon by Vicente Sandoval and Dahling
Nick by Sari Dalena. The films revisited the
country’s time under martial law.
Architect and newspaper columnist Paulo
Alcazaren presented a lecture, Buried, that
discussed the lost art and architecture of the
country, and showed participants photos of old
Manila, Philippine pavilions in World’s Fairs and
art deco and neoclassical structures.
The Museum simultaneously ran two
exhibitions from August 26 to December 23,
2016: Two Halves of a Whole, co-presented
by Fundacion Sanso, that put together works
by artist Juvenal Sanso to highlight the role
or patronage and generosity in the making of
institutional collections; and Exposition, copresented by Instituto Cevantes with support
from the Cultural Department of the Embassy
of Spain in Manila, that revisited Philippine and
Spanish relations with works by Cian Dayrit,
Liv Vinluan and Renan Laru-an augmenting the
museum’s permanent collection.
National Museum of the Philippines artists
Rolf Campos and Aissa Domingo led a panel
discussion and workshop, Field Notes, that
taught participants the basics of illustrating
specimens and artifacts. Scientific illustrations
have remained relevant in the age of
photography and electronic documentation.
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EnCOUNTERS, a counter-mapping forum
in partnership with the University of the
Philippines (UP)  Geographical Society, the UP
Geography Department, the Junior Philippine
Geographical Society and the Philippine
Geographical Society, presented alternative
perspectives and practices of looking at
cartography.

ABS-CBN Lingkod Kapamilya
Foundation, Inc. (ALKFI)
Since 1989, ABS-CBN Lingkod Kapamilya
Foundation, Inc. (ALKFI) has been at the
forefront of development programs that
uniquely affect strategic sectors in the
Philippines – each one with distinct goals and
considerable impact. A duly registered nonstock, non-profit organization, ALKFI addresses
the plight of the disadvantaged while also
ensuring that donations are properly allotted
and utilized.

BANTAY BATA 163
Since 1997, Bantay Bata 163 has catered to
children from 0 to 12 years old through the
following services:
Hotline:

380,383 reports received
and acted upon

Medical:

63,161 patients served

Scholarships:

5,176 scholars

Community
Service:

1,035,064 beneficiaries
served

Rescue:

2,464 children

Legal:

4,015 services

Rehabilitation:

9,342 children

BANTAY KALIKASAN
Launched in 1998, Bantay Kalikasan (BK),
ALKFI’s environment advocacy arm, has
propelled massive changes towards the
protection and sustainability of the country’s
natural environment.
Bantay Kalikasan paved the way for
rehabilitating the sole watershed in Metro
Manila – the La Mesa Watershed. To date,
from 9 species, the watershed now houses
100 endemic species. More than a hundred
thousand seedlings are nurtured and cultivated.
From only 20, there are now a total of 125
species of birds in the forest. More than
400,000 visitors from 27 companies have
shown and expressed their support to restore
the splendor of La Mesa.

OPERATION SAGIP
Through the outpouring of support from
donors, Operation Sagip (formerly known as
Sagip Kapamilya) provided immediate relief
assistance and school kits to 33,254 survivors
of calamities and disasters in 2016.
A total of 131 schools were built for Yolanda
sites as of January 2017. There were 35
classrooms built in 16 school sites in Bukidnon,
Camarines Norte, Compostela Valley, Bohol,
Nueva Vizcaya and Davao Oriental. Operation
Sagip, through its Ronda Eskwela Project,
distributed a total of 4,424 school kits in
Batangas, Nueva Ecija, Bohol, Leyte and
Zambales.
The donations of Operation Sagip supporters
also funded the different livelihood programs
in the areas of Samar and Leyte namely:
Marabut Multi-Purpose Center, Wespal Visitor
Center and Eco-Lodge, San Juan Floating
Restaurant and Boardwalk by the Bay, San Jose
Skimboarding Camp, Dao Balay Kawilan and
Sabang Daguitan Surf Camp.
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BB163 hotline processed 380,383 reports from 1997 to 2016.

Alternative livelihood was also provided by
Operation Sagip: 430 students underwent
alternative learning and school-skills training
in Compostela Valley; 77 sewing machines
were distributed to Tarlac, Compostela Valley
and Davao Oriental; 56 families who survived
Typhoon Lando were granted farming seeds
and; 17 boats were given to five barangays in
Baler, Aurora. Water facilities were also granted
to 905 families in San Luis, Aurora; 450 families
in Campao Oriental; 400 families in Bagangga
Davao Oriental; and 102 families in New Bataan,
Compostela Valley.
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Knowledge Channel
Foundation, Inc. (KCFI)
KCFI signed another 10-year partnership with
the Department of Education (DepEd) focusing
on support for the development and provision
to schools of multi-media learning resources
for early childhood development, K-to-12, and
the Alternative Learning System, as well as
for the professional development of teachers
and education leaders. Since 1999, Knowledge
Channel, the all-educational flagship of
KCFI, has provided students and teachers
with videos, games and other resources to
supplement lessons in the classroom. These

curriculum-based resources cover the different
levels and topics in Science, Math, English,
Filipino, Araling Panlipunan, and Health and
Values Education. Knowledge Channel is
available on SKY Cable and other cablepartner service providers, on satellite through
SKY Direct, on digital terrestrial television via
ABS-CBN TV Plus, and the internet through
kchonline.ph and on the Knowledge Channel
On-Demand packages.

principals called LEEP (Learning Effectively
through Enhanced and Evidenced-Based
Pedagogies) that stresses learner-centeredness
and constructivism, which are relevant features
of DepEd’s K to 12 curriculum. By the end of
2016, LEEP-PFA was able to train 86 schools in
Busuanga, Aklan, Antique, Capiz, Roxas, Iloilo,
Tacloban, Ormoc, Cagayan de Oro, Camiguin,
Bukidnon, Davao Oriental and Compostela
Valley.

In 2016, KCFI produced new content: the
second season of AgriCOOLture in cooperation
with Land Bank of the Philippines; new
episodes of Payong K-lusugan one of which
is on communicable diseases produced in
cooperation with Unilever, and two on safety
with animals developed in partnership with the
Global Alliance for Rabies Control; MathDali,
which promotes mastery and development
of positive attitude towards Math, is a
collaboration with ABS-CBN and ALKFI; a
new episode of Estudyantipid with Insular
Foundation, which teaches financial literacy,
insurance and investments to ninth graders;
a new episode of the travelogue, Wow on
Misamis Occidental produced in cooperation
with the DepEd Division Office of Misamis
Occidental; and a new season of Puno ng
Buhay, which features basic science concepts
on Plants for third graders. AgriCOOLture
and MathDali are also accessible on iWantTV,
ABS-CBN Corporation’s homegrown video-ondemand service.

KCFI also spearheaded a series of workshops
entitled Martial Law for the Millennials to equip
Araling Panlipunan teachers with knowledge
and skills for teaching this vital topic in
Philippine history.

In partnership with ALKFI’s Operation Sagip
and with the support of the Psychological
Association of the Philippines (PAP), KCFI
designed a video-and-workshop module on
psychological first aid (PFA) to guide teachers
and principals in addressing the psychological
first aid needs of children immediately after
calamities. PFA was integrated in Knowledge
Channel’s training program for teachers and

Operation Blessing Philippines was the partner
for the medical and dental missions conducted
on May 28 and June 4, 2016. Operation
Blessing provided doctors, dentists, nurses, as
well as volunteer storytellers and counselors for
the scholars.

Phil-Asia Assistance Foundation,
Inc. (PAAFI)
PAAFI assists elementary, high school and
college students in Metro Manila public schools
by providing a monthly allowance to help
with transportation, uniforms and projects.
In addition, it conducts regular social worker
visits, medical and dental missions for scholars,
cultural exposure and values education in
partnership with local parishes.
In 2016, cultural exposure included
sponsorships for select students to see “Opera”
at the Cultural Center of the Philippines,
the ballets “The Masterpieces” and “Simon
Ibarra”, and a tour of the Manila Ocean Park as
incentives for outstanding performance.

Parents of scholars also find support with
PAAFI for livelihood training. In 2016, First
Philippine Realty Corporation sponsored
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training in soap making while Live for Others
Movement sponsored longganisa making.
PAAFI collects books for its portable libraries.
A portable library has over 200 books that
scholars may borrow for a month. It rotates
among sites that serve scholars every six
months. At the end of 2016, PAAFI had seven
portable libraries under management.
PAAFI also benefited from Google’s Global
Leadership Program, that provided four

Googlers for a three-week consultation. The
team of Googlers helped PAAFI establish its
website and data management system.
Since 1987, PAAFI has given 12,944 grants, with
1,162 scholars enrolled for schoolyear 20162017. It is certified by the PCNC and registered
with the DSWD. For the last schoolyear, Lopez
Holdings adopted 27 scholars and donated a
portable library.

PAAFI scholars may borrow books every month from the portable library.
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Corporate
Governance
In 2002, the board of directors of Lopez
Holdings adopted the company’s Manual
of Corporate Governance to institutionalize
corporate governance principles. It is used
in practice as a reference and guide for the
conduct of all business. Amendments to the
Manual were adopted in 2009, 2011, 2013,
and 2014, to further strengthen corporate
governance practices within Lopez Holdings
and to elevate them to best practices
standards.

corporate objectives, measures, and risks to
the Board en banc or to the Risk Management
Committee, in the case of risks.

The Board, management, employees, and
shareholders believe that good corporate
governance is a necessary component of sound
strategic business management and improves
the economic and commercial prosperity of the
corporation and its stockholders.
The Board monitors and oversees the
implementation of corporate strategy. It
reviews the corporate vision and mission
annually and provides time to study, evaluate
and comment on the corporate strategies of
major investees, which present their respective

The budget process for the succeeding year
begins with the Economic and Political Briefing
in the third quarter of the year. This is followed
by the combined Five Year Strategic Planning
Conference and Annual Budget Conference
in the fourth quarter or first quarter of the
following year. A Mid-Year Budget Conference
is held in the second quarter of the year to
track progress against targets, and facilitate
synergistic resolution of issues or mitigation of
identified risks. Top and senior executives and
key staff members of the Lopez Group member
companies participate in these exercises.

Board meetings
The board of directors is composed of seven
members, three of whom are independent
directors. Regular board meetings are held
once a month. In 2016, the Board had 11
meetings.

Attendance of Directors in Board Meetings in 2016
Jan
11

Feb
19

Apr
6

May
30

Jun 1

(special)

(org)

Jul
27

Aug
26

Sep
22

Oct
24

Dec
9

Oscar M. Lopez

A

A

P

P

A

A

P

P

P

P

P

Manuel M. Lopez

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Eugenio Lopez III

P

P

P

P

A

A

P

A

P

P

P

Cesar E.A. Virata

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Washington Z. SyCip

P

A

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

A

P

Salvador G. Tirona

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

Monico V. Jacob

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

P

A

P

A – ABSENT		

Apr 7

P – PRESENT

There were no deviations from the Manual of
Corporate Governance reported during the
year. Lopez Holdings pursues initiatives to
improve corporate governance such as risk
management and improvement of internal
auditing processes.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee checks all financial
reports against their compliance with both

the internal financial management handbook
and pertinent accounting standards, including
regulatory requirements. It consists of three
Board members, all of whom are independent
directors. Lopez, Inc. serves as internal auditor
of Lopez Holdings. The Audit Committee met
three times in 2016, and its report for the year
ended 2016 is on page 59.  
Cesar E.A. Virata – Chairman
Washington Z. SyCip – Member
Monico V. Jacob – Member
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Attendance of Members in Audit
Committee Meetings in 2016
Apr 5

Aug 26

Dec 9

P

P

P

Cesar E.A. Virata
Washington Z. SyCip

P

P

P

Monico V. Jacob

P

P

P

A – ABSENT		

P – PRESENT

Nomination, Election and
Governance Committee
The Nomination, Election and Governance
Committee pre-screens and shortlists all
candidates nominated to become a member
of the board of directors. It consists of three
Board members, two of whom are independent
directors. The committee undertakes the
process of identifying the qualification of
directors which are aligned with the company’s
strategic directions. The following guidelines
are used in determining the eligibility of
nominees: the nature of the business of the
corporations in which he is a director; age
of the director; number of directorships/
active memberships and officerships in other
corporations or organizations; and possible
conflict of interest. The committee had two
meetings in 2016, at which all members were
present.
Oscar M. Lopez – Chairman
Cesar E.A. Virata – Member
Washington Z. SyCip – Member

Compensation and
Remuneration Committee
The Compensation and Remuneration
Committee has established a formal and
transparent procedure for developing a policy
on executive remuneration and for fixing
the remuneration packages of corporate
officers and directors. It has three members,
two of whom are independent directors.
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The committee met twice in 2016, at which all
members were present.
Manuel M. Lopez – Chairman
Cesar E.A. Virata – Member
Washington Z. SyCip – Member

Risk Management Committee
The Risk Management Committee performs
oversight financial management functions
specifically in the areas of managing credit,
market, liquidity, operational, legal and other
risks of the Corporation. It has three members,
all of whom are independent directors. The risk
management committee met twice in 2016, at
which all members were present.
Monico V. Jacob – Chairman
Cesar E.A. Virata – Member
Washington Z. SyCip – Member

Governance Protocol
Lopez Holdings is in full compliance with
the Manual of Corporate Governance. The
company submitted its 2016 Annual Corporate
Governance Report in May 2017. It complies
with governance regulatory requirements.
In 2016, it filed the required disclosures with
the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the Philippine Stock Exchange, which are all
available for viewing on its website
www.lopez-holdings.ph.
Directors and officers are required to inform
the company within two trading days when
transacting in company shares, regardless of
whether dealings are within or outside the
blackout periods.
Lopez Holdings has standing policies governing
insider trading, conflict of interest, related party
transactions and whistle blowers, all approved
by the board.

Board of
Directors
Oscar M. Lopez

Manuel M. Lopez

Chairman Emeritus
Executive Director
Filipino

Chairman And Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director
Filipino

Oscar M. Lopez (aged 87) chaired the company’s board
from June 8, 1993 until June 2010, when he was elected
as chairman emeritus. He served as Lopez Holdings
president from 1999 until 2004, and chief executive
officer from 1999 to June 2010. He received a Bachelor
of Arts degree from Harvard College and a Master’s
degree in Public Administration from Harvard University.
He is chairman emeritus of First Philippine Holdings
Corporation (FPH), First Gen Corporation (FGEN),
and Energy Development Corporation (EDC) and is a
director of Rockwell Land Corporation (Rockwell), ABSCBN Corporation (ABS-CBN), and ABS-CBN Holdings
Corporation (ABSP), all publicly listed companies. He
owns 11,632,408 Lopez Holdings shares. He has been
granted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
exemption from the continuing corporate governance
training requirements for directors. He has been
nominated for re-election.

Manuel M. Lopez (aged 75) is the chairman and chief
executive officer. He has been a director of the company
since June 8, 1993, and was vice chairman from 2001
to June 2010, when he was elected as chairman and
CEO. He was sworn in as the Philippine Ambassador to
Japan on December 2, 2010, and served as such until
June 30, 2016. He is a holder of a Bachelor of Science
degree in Business Administration from the University
of the East and attended the Program for Management
Development at the Harvard Business School. He served
Manila Electric Company (Meralco) (publicly listed) as
president from 1986 to June 2001, and as chairman from
2001 until May 2012. He is chairman of Rockwell, and is a
director of FPH and ABS-CBN, publicly listed companies.
He is vice chairman of Lopez, Inc. He last attended
corporate governance training on September 16, 2016.
He owns 25,617,897 Lopez Holdings shares. He has been
nominated for re-election.

Eugenio Lopez III

Salvador G. Tirona

Vice Chairman
Executive Director
Filipino

Executive Director
President, Chief Operation Oficer &
Chief Finance Officer, Filipino

Eugenio Lopez III (aged 64) vice chairman, has been
a director of the company since June 8, 1993, and was
treasurer from said date until June 2010, when he was
elected vice chairman. He received a Bachelor of Arts
degree in Political Science from Bowdoin College and
a Master’s degree in Business Administration from the
Harvard Business School. He has been chairman of
ABS-CBN (publicly listed) since 1997. He was the chief
executive officer of ABS-CBN (publicly listed) from 1997
to 2012, and was its president from 1993 to 1997. He is
chairman of Sky Cable Corporation (SKY), and president
of Lopez, Inc., among others. He is a director of FPH,
FGEN, ABSP, and Rockwell, all publicly listed. He last
attended corporate governance training on September
16, 2016. He owns 3,807,823 Lopez Holdings shares. He
has been nominated for re-election.

Salvador G. Tirona (aged 62) has been a director,
president, chief operating officer since June 10, 2010.
He joined the company as chief finance officer (CFO)
in September 2005. He was formerly a director and
the CFO of Bayan Telecommunications, Inc. In 2003, he
played a critical and strategic role as CFO of Maynilad
Water Services, Inc., particularly in implementing its
rehabilitation plan. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Economics from the Ateneo de Manila University and
a Master of Business Administration from the same
university. He is a director of ABS-CBN (publicly listed)
and the comptroller of ABSP. He attended the fiveday Professional Directors’ Program of the Institute
of Corporate Directors and last attended corporate
governance training on October 7, 2016. He owns
405,905 Lopez Holdings shares. He has been nominated
for re-election.
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Oscar M. Lopez
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Manuel M. Lopez
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Eugenio Lopez III

Salvador G. Tirona

Washington Z. SYCip

Monico V. Jacob

Independent Director
American

Independent Director
Filipino

Washington Z. SyCip (aged 95) has been a director of
the company since April 30, 1997. He is an independent
director. He received a Bachelor of Science degree in
Commerce from the University of Santo Tomas and a
Master of Science degree in Commerce from Columbia
University. He is chairman of Cityland Development
Corp. (since 1997) and MacroAsia Corp. (since 1996),
both publicly listed. He is an independent director of
the following publicly listed companies: FPH (since
1997), Belle Corporation (since 1996), Century Properties
Group, Inc. (since 2011), Highlands Prime, Inc. (since
2002), The PHINMA Group (since 1996), and Metro
Pacific Investments Corp. (since 2012). He is a director
of publicly listed Philippine National Bank (since 1999)
and Philippine Airlines, Inc. (since 1997). He is an adviser
to the Board of the following publicly listed companies:
Asian Terminals, Inc. (since 2010), BDO Unibank, Inc.
(since 2009), JG Summit Holdings, Inc. (since 2001),
Jollibee Foods Corporation (since 2011), Metropolitan
Bank & Trust Co. (since 1996), and Philippine Long
Distance Telephone Co. (since 2011). He underwent the
Mandatory Accreditation Programme of the Research
Institute of Investment Analysts Malaysia. He has been
granted by the SEC exemption from the continuing
corporate governance training requirements for
directors. He owns 1 Lopez Holdings share. He has been
nominated for re-election.

Monico V. Jacob (aged 71) was elected to the board of
the company on May 30, 2013. He received his Bachelor
of Laws degree from the Ateneo de Manila University
in 1971. He has been the chairman of Total Consolidated
Asset Management, Inc. since 1999, of Global Resource
for Outsourced Workers, Inc. since 2000, of Republic
Surety & Insurance Co., Inc. since 2008, and of Philplans
First, Inc. and Philhealthcare, Inc. since 2013. He has been
the president and CEO of STI Education Services Group,
Inc. since 2003, of STI Education Systems Holdings, Inc.
(publicly listed) since 2012, of Insurance Builders, Inc.
since 2010, and of Philippine Life Finance Assurance
Corp. since 2012. He has been an independent director of
2GO Group, Inc. (publicly listed) and Negros Navigation
Co., Inc., both since 2009. He has been a director of De
Los Santos-STI College and De Los Santos-STI Medical
Center since 2004, of Jollibee Foods Corp. (publicly
listed) since 2000, of Asian Terminals, Inc. (publicly
listed) since 2010, of Phoenix Petroleum Philippines, Inc.
(publicly listed) since 2010, and of Century Properties
Group, Inc. (publicly listed) since 2012, among others. He
was a director of Meralco Industrial Engineering Services
Corporation and Clark Electric Distribution Corp.
from 2007 to 2010. He was the chairman of Meralco
Financial Services Corporation from 2007 to 2012. He
last attended corporate governance training on March
18, 2016. He owns 1 Lopez Holdings share. He has been
nominated for re-election.

Cesar E.A. Virata
Independent Director
Filipino

Cesar E.A. Virata (aged 86) was elected director of
the company on July 9, 2009. He is an independent
director. He graduated in 1952 from the University of
the Philippines with Bachelor of Science degrees in
Mechanical Engineering and in Business Administration
(cum laude). He received his Master’s degree in Business
Administration major in Industrial Management in 1953
from the University of Pennsylvania. He is a former Prime
Minister of the Philippines (1981-1986) and Chairman of
the Committee on Finance of the Batasang Pambansa
(1978-1986). Since 1986, he has been the chairman
and president of C. Virata and Associates, Inc. He is
also a director and corporate vice chairman of Rizal
Commercial Banking Corporation (since 1995), chairman
and director of RCBC Bankard Services Corporation
(since 2013), and an independent director of Belle

Corporation and City and Land Developers, Inc. (since
2009), all  publicly listed. He concurrently serves as
director and/or chairman of such organizations as
RCBC Savings Bank, Inc.(since 1999), RCBC Realty
Corporation (since 1998), Malayan Insurance Company,
Inc. (since 2005), RCBC Forex Brokers Corporation
(since 1999), ALTO-Pacific Company, Inc. (since 2013),
Business World Publishing Corporation (since 1989),
Malayan Colleges (since 1999), Luisita Industrial Park
(since 1999), RCBC Land Inc. (since 1999) and AY
Foundation, Inc. (since 1997), among others. He attended
the seminar, Corporate Governance for Bank Directors,
Bank Chairmen & CEOs of the Institute of Corporate
Directors and the Bangko Sentral ng Pilipinas. He last
attended corporate governance training on August 3,
2016. He owns 1 Lopez Holdings share. He has been
nominated for re-election.
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Monico V. Jacob

Cesar E.A. Virata

Executive And
Corporate Officers
Oscar M. Lopez
Chairman Emeritus

Manuel M. Lopez
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Eugenio Lopez III
Vice Chairman

Salvador G. Tirona
President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Finance Officer

Federico R. Lopez
Treasurer

Miguel L. Lopez
Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs

Enrique I. Quiason
Corporate Secretary

Maria Amina O. Amado
Assistant Corporate Secretary, Compliance Officer and Vice-President, Legal

Federico R. Lopez

Miguel L. Lopez

Treasurer
Filipino

Senior Vice President
Filipino

Federico R. Lopez (aged 55), has been treasurer
since June 10, 2010. He was executive vice president
for Regulatory Management from 2001 until June
2010. He is chairman and chief executive officer of
FPH (since June 2010) FGEN and EDC, as well as
a director of ABS-CBN and various FPH and FGEN
subsidiaries. He is a graduate of the University of
Pennsylvania with a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Economics and International Relations (cum laude,
1983). He owns 2,004,857 Lopez Holdings shares.
He last attended corporate governance training on
September 16, 2016.

Miguel L. Lopez (aged 48) has been with the
company since June 10, 2010. He is senior vice
president and Head-Corporate Affairs. He joined
Lopez Holdings from Meralco where he worked from
2002 to June 2010, occupying various positions,
the last of which was vice president and head of
Corporate Marketing. Prior to Meralco, he worked in
Maynilad Water as vice president, Central Business
Area from 1998 to 2002, and in Bayan as assistant
vice president, Customer Service Division from 1994
to 1998. He is a director of Rockwell. He graduated
with a degree in Business Administration from
Menlo College of California, USA and attended
the Executive Development Program of the Asian
Institute of Management. He last attended corporate
governance training on September 16, 2016. He owns
863,517 Lopez Holdings shares.
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Enrique I. Quiason

Maria Amina O. Amado

Corporate Secretary
Filipino

Assistant Corporate Secretary,
Compliance Officer and Vice President
Filipino

Enrique I. Quiason (aged 56) has been the corporate
secretary of the company since June 8, 1993. He
received his Bachelor of Science degree in Business
Economics and Bachelor of Laws degree from the
University of the Philippines, and Master of Laws
degree in Securities Regulation from Georgetown
University. He is a senior partner of the Quiason
Makalintal Barot Torres & Ibarra Law Office. He is
the corporate secretary of FPH, Rockwell, ABSCBN, ABSP, SKY and Lopez, Inc. He last attended
corporate governance training on September 16,
2016. He owns 191,960 Lopez Holdings shares.

The Directors of the Company are elected at
the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting to hold office
until the next succeeding annual meeting and
until their respective successors have been
elected and qualified.
The independent directors of the company
are compliant with SEC Memorandum Circular
No. 16, Series of 2002, which defines an
independent director as “a person who, apart
from his fees and shareholdings, is independent
of management and free from any business
or other relationship which could, or could
reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere
with his exercise of independent judgment in
carrying out his responsibilities as a director in
any corporation that meets the requirements of
Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code
(SRC) and includes, among others, any person
who:
i.

is not a director or officer or substantial
stockholder of the corporation or of its
related companies or any of its substantial
shareholders (other than as an independent
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Maria Amina O. Amado (aged 53) has been the
assistant corporate secretary since 1994. She is also
currently vice president for Legal and compliance
officer of the company. She is also the corporate
secretary and assistant corporate secretary of
various Lopez Holdings subsidiaries and affiliates.
She is the assistant corporate secretary of ABSP.
She graduated with an A.B. Political Science degree
in 1984 and a Bachelor of Laws degree in 1989 from
the University of the Philippines. She completed
the academic requirements for the Executive
Masters in Business Administration program of the
Asian Institute of Management. She last attended
corporate governance training on September 16,
2016. She owns 435,788 Lopez Holdings shares.

director of any of the foregoing);
ii.

is not a relative of any director, officer or
substantial shareholder of the corporation,
any of its related companies or any of its
substantial shareholders. For this purpose,
relatives include spouse, parent, child,
brother, sister, and the spouse of such child,
brother or sister;

iii. is not acting as a nominee or representative
of a substantial shareholder of the
corporation, any of its related companies or
any of its substantial shareholders;
iv. has not been employed in any executive
capacity by that public company, any
of its related companies or by any of its
substantial shareholders within the last five
(5) years;
v.

is not retained as professional adviser by
that public company, any of its related
companies or any of its substantial
shareholders within the last five (5) years,
either personally or through his firm;

vi. has not engaged and does not engage
in any transaction with the corporation
or with any of its related companies or
with any of its substantial shareholders,
whether by himself or with other persons
or through a firm of which he is a partner
or a company of which he is a director
or substantial shareholder, other than
transactions which are conducted at arms
length and are immaterial or insignificant.”
In compliance with Section 38 of the SRC, the
independent directors of Lopez Holdings are
not officers nor employees of the corporation,
its parent or subsidiaries, and do not have a
relationship with the corporation, which would
interfere with their exercise of independent
judgment in carrying out their responsibilities
as directors.
The independent directors of the company
are also compliant with the term limit of
independent directors which is nine (9) years
from 2012 as per SEC Memorandum Circular
No. 4 Series of 2017.
Officers are appointed annually by the Board
of Directors at its first meeting following
the annual meeting of stockholders, each to
hold office until a successor shall have been
appointed.

Family Relationships
There are no other family relationships among
the directors and officers listed above except
for the following: Mr. Oscar M. Lopez and Amb.
Manuel M. Lopez are brothers; Mr. Eugenio
Lopez III is a nephew of Mr. Oscar M. Lopez and
Amb. Manuel M. Lopez; Mr. Federico R. Lopez
is a son of Mr. Oscar M. Lopez and a nephew of
Amb. Manuel M. Lopez; Mr. Miguel L. Lopez is a
son of Amb. Manuel M. Lopez and a nephew of
Mr. Oscar M. Lopez; and Messrs. Eugenio Lopez
III, Federico R. Lopez and Miguel L. Lopez are
cousins.

Significant Employees
The officers mentioned above make significant
contribution to the business and all employees
are expected by the Company to make their
own contributions necessary to meet its
organizational goals.

Involvement of Directors
and Officers in Certain Legal
Proceedings
The Company is not aware of any bankruptcy
proceedings filed by or against any business of
which a director, person nominated to become
a director, executive officer, or control person
of the Company is a party or of which any of
their property is subject.
The Company is not aware of any conviction by
final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic
or foreign, or being subject to a pending
criminal proceeding, domestic, or foreign, of any
director, person nominated to become a director,
executive officer, or control person.
The Company is not aware of any order,
judgment, or decree not subsequently
reversed, superseded, or vacated, by any
court of competent jurisdiction, domestic, or
foreign, permanently or temporarily enjoining,
barring, suspending, or otherwise limiting the
involvement of a director, person nominated to
become a director, executive officer, or control
person of the Company in any type of business,
securities, commodities or banking activities.
The Company is not aware of any findings
by a domestic or foreign court of competent
jurisdiction (in a civil action), the SEC or
comparable foreign body, or a domestic or
foreign exchange or electronic marketplace or
self regulatory organization, that any director,
person nominated to become a director,
executive officer, or control person has violated
a securities or commodities law.
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RIsk
Management
The executive officers and staff members
of Lopez Holdings Corporation have been
implementing a corporate risk management
program since 2002, in line with an enterprisewide risk management system.
Risks that may hinder the achievement of
corporate goals and objectives are identified
and reviewed regularly to ensure that
mitigation measures are in place to adequately
respond to and manage such risks.
The ABS-CBN chief risk officer on August 26,
2016 and the FPH Group chief risk officer on
December 9, 2016 presented their respective
top risks to the Risk Management Committee
of the Lopez Holdings board. The presentation
included action plans to address such risks,
each company’s risk framework, controls,
prioritization and alternative mitigation plans.
The top risks of investees serve as vital inputs
to the regular risk management process of
Lopez Holdings.

Top Risks
Through continuous monitoring and
management, appropriate mitigation strategies
were prepared and/or implemented to address
the top risks evaluated by the company to
be the most significant and/or most likely, as
follows:

Customer (Stakeholder) wants/
satisfaction risk
Requirements of Lopez Holdings stakeholders
vary and the company may be unable to
meet all requirements in a timely manner.
Regulators require compliance with rules and
regulations; creditors require the settlement
of all obligations; shareholders require a
fair return on their investment; associated
companies require financial and other forms of
support; senior management requires current
and accurate information on group-wide
operations; employees require compensation
and benefits.
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With total debt at a manageable level since
2011, this risk has been greatly reduced.
Lopez Holdings adequately served the needs
of shareholders, employees, associated
companies, regulators and senior management
in 2016.

Business interruption risk
Prolonged interruption in operations may stem
from disasters such as earthquake or fire that
may damage office premises.
As part of safety measures, employees
regularly train in disaster risk reduction and
emergency response (see section on Employee
Wellness and Safety). Off-site information
systems are in place to ensure continuous
operations from remote or mobile locations,
should the situation require.

Other risks
In 2016, the following risks were deemed to be
less significant and/or less likely:

Capital availability or cash flow
(liquidity) risk
This refers to the company’s exposure to the
risk of lower returns on its investments or
the necessity to borrow due to shortfalls in
cash or expected cash flows, or variances in
their timing. There is risk that cash flows from
dividends and asset sales may not come in as
expected. The level of outstanding obligations
of Lopez Holdings is deemed manageable with
respect to required interest payments.

Foreign currency exchange risk and
foreign currency revaluation risk
Volatility in foreign currency exchange rates
may expose Lopez Holdings to economic
and accounting losses related to direct
and indirect obligations. Extraordinary
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates may affect reported operational profits
and deficit, potentially reducing the ability of

associated companies to declare dividends.
The company’s restructured foreign currencydenominated debt of US$5 million is deemed
manageable. It is also monitoring the mitigation
plans of associated companies in relation
to foreign currency exchange and foreign
currency revaluation risk.

Interest rate risk
Fluctuations in interest rates may affect the
company’s capital availability or cash flow risk
as they expose the company to variable cash
requirements in relation to debt with floating
interest rates. This risk was considered less
significant in 2016 given the manageable level
of company debt, as well as the fixed rate on
long-term debt.

Credit risk
Lopez Holdings has advances in associated
companies but these comprise less than 5%
of assets. Trade receivables refer to accounts
under ABS-CBN, which are managed at the
ABS-CBN level. Lopez Holdings does not offer
credit terms for the provision of services as a
holding company.

Capital management risk
The company has no material commitments
for capital expenditures and has not made any
major investments since 2013.

Audit Committee
Statement on External
Auditors
Lopez Holdings paid or accrued audit fees to
SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV), its external
auditor, in the past three years for professional
services rendered in the amount of P1.2 million
in 2016, and P1.15 million annually in 2014 and
2015, excluding VAT.
SGV was engaged by Lopez Holdings solely to
audit its annual financial statements.

SGV has provided tax advisory services
on routine tax matters, tax implications of
transactions entered into or contemplated by
the Company and queries regarding recent taxrelated issuances, rulings and court decisions
affecting the Company. This engagement has
been duly approved by Audit Committee. It
was not engaged to provide any other (nonaudit) services for Lopez Holdings in 2016 and
2015, except for the conduct of a seminar on
Corporate Governance updates in 2015. for
which it was paid P280,000 (VAT-exclusive).  

Quality Management
Since 2003, Lopez Holdings has been certified
against the standards of the International
Organization for Standardization for the
provision of management services in Finance
and Accounting, Public Relations, and Human
Resources as a holding company. Legal
Services was added to the audited processes in
its quality management system in 2006. Lopez
Holdings was again certified compliant with the
updated ISO 9001:2008 standard and passed a
surveillance audit in 2016.
Lopez Holdings was the first holding company
in the Philippines to be certified against the
Investors in People (IiP) standard in 2009. The
IiP framework from the U.K. helps corporations
improve business results through best practices
in people management. Lopez Holdings was
re-certified to IiP in 2013 and 2016, with the
latest assessment using the 6th generation IiP
Standard.
As part of continuing compliance with its
ISO-certified quality management system, the
company adopted the following Quality Policy:
Lopez Holdings exists to lead in quality
management practices and adheres to good
corporate governance in the conduct of all
business.
We shall innovate and continually pursue
improvements in all our services and processes
to achieve business excellence.
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Lopez Holdings’ 2016 Quality Objectives, performance measures, targets, and results, are as follows:
Performance
Measure / Target

Results

Improve the balance sheet
/ Reduce debt

• As of December 31, 2016, LPZ had US$5
million in direct obligations, compared to
end-2015 debt levels of US$10 million and
P26 million.

Stock price / Move with
market

• LPZ stock price increased by 18.2% yearon-year, outperforming the PSEi which
decreased by 1.6% during the same period

To continue risk
mitigation, including
organization and
mobilization of
resources for disaster or
emergency response.

Participation in risk
management process /
100%

• Investees ABS-CBN and FPH updated
the Lopez Holdings Risk Management
Committee on their respective top risks
• All employees assessed and managed
their own process risks, within the
purview of line/functional managers who
intervened proactively or upon escalation

To ensure timely
compliance with all
applicable regulatory
requirements.

Timeliness / No penalties
Accuracy / No errors

• All regulatory requirements were filed and
complied with in a timely manner.
• Tax dues were remitted/paid within
deadline, including but not limited to
the 1604-CF/1604-E (annual alpha list of
suppliers/creditors/ employees) and PSE
listing fee for 2016.

To provide corporate
services that adhere to
quality management
systems and other
standards e.g. ISO, IiP.

Internal audit / Corrective
and preventive action

• Compliance was consistently monitored
during the year through an internal audit
program

To continue
employee behavioral
and competency
development for at
least three training
man-days.

Duration of training /
Three training man-days

• 2016 Training Plan and evaluation of the
previous year’s training activities were
finalized when the Performance Appraisal
process was completed.
• Staff members and officers participated
in a total of 22 types of training seminars/
workshops consistent with approved
Training Plan, averaging 2.75 training mandays per individual.

To embed the practice
of the Lopez Credo and
Values in the workplace.

Donation / CSR budget

• Company supported the Lopez Group
Foundation and its member foundations
engaged in education, disaster relief and
rehabilitation, and arts and culture through
subsidies and employee volunteers.

Quality Objectives
To improve the value
of Lopez Holdings
to stockholders and
creditors.
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• Company was certified against the IiP
Standard (6th generation) in February
2016, and passed ISO surveillance audit in
July 2016.

Investor and Stakeholder Relations
The company thrives on open, honest and
timely communication with all stakeholders.
Communication policies and processes are
reviewed annually against corporate objectives,
and semi-annually for monitoring progress. Any
investor (shareholder) or other stakeholder
(e.g., regulator, employee) may send queries,
comments, suggestions, and recommendations
through any means (post, electronic) to the
contact person listed in the Shareholder
Assistance page of this report and on the
company website.
The corporate website, http://lopez-holdings.
ph, allows visitors to sign up for the company’s
mailing list. Corporate updates and official
disclosures covering Lopez Holdings and
associates are sent weekly to those who opt
to join its mailing list. Aside from information
sent to the mailing list, Lopez Holdings also
publishes the schedule and agenda of its
annual stockholders’ meeting in a newspaper
of general circulation to further encourage
stockholders to attend the meeting.

Media and Analysts’ Briefing
The media and analysts’ briefing of Lopez
Holdings was last conducted on May 28, 2015
at the Power Plant Mall Cinema in Rockwell
Center, Makati City at 9:45 a.m. or right after
the 2015 Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. There
was no such briefing held in 2016.
Materials distributed at the briefings held in
2015, 2014 and 2013 may be downloaded from
the Investor Relations section of the website,
http://lopez-holdings.ph/investor-relations.

Training and Development
Lopez Holdings is committed to continuous
learning. It has an established process for
identifying the learning and development
needs of employees at every level. It provides
resources for necessary and appropriate

learning solutions, consistent with corporate
goals. The corporate learning and development
plan is reviewed and updated on an annual
basis. The plan includes leadership, behavioral
and technical skills trainings.
The company aims to have each employee
undergo at least three training man-days per
year. Employees underwent an average of 2.75
training man-days in 2016, 3.56 training mandays in 2015, and 5.35 training man-days in 2014.

Employee Wellness and Safety
Lopez Holdings treats employees as partners
in the success of the company. Their health
and well-being are of prime importance
in sustaining productivity and company
growth. Health benefits, including a generous
hospitalization plan, constitute a significant
component of the company’s employment
package. Regular employees undergo annual
medical examinations and flu vaccinations,
as well as seminars on physical, emotional,
financial and spiritual wellness. The company
also enrolled them in an emergency assistance
program provided by a third party. It cosponsored a Walk-the-Talk activity and
encouraged a sustainable lifestyle for
employees.
The rate of absences on account of sickness
has been almost nil in 2016, 2015 and 2014.
Employee safety is also important to the
company. The company ensures that
employees are regularly trained in maintaining
safety in the workplace and in preparing for
and dealing with emergencies. They undergo
building exit drills at least once a year. An ESH
(environment, safety and health) committee
leads the enforcement of emergency protocols
and provides regular ESH updates. To-date, the
company has had no incidents of injuries in the
workplace.
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Employee Welfare
It is the policy of the company to look after
the general welfare of its employees. The
company provides a wide range of benefits to
meet employee needs, including life insurance;
health care and other medical benefits that
extend to immediate family members; vacation
and sick leave entitlement; rest and recreation
programs; and financial assistance in the form
of loan facilities. The company completed its
Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Employee
Stock Option Plan in 2016.
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Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and
Related Stockholder Matters
Market Information

9
10
11
12

Lopez Holdings common stock principally
trades on the Philippine Stock Exchange.
		
Stock Prices
High
Low
2017
First Quarter

          P8.06

P7.68

2016
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

            7.15
8.10
8.30
8.28

5.03
6.81
7.50
7.40

2015
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

          P9.25
8.98
7.58
7.85

P6.63
6.95
5.14
5.50

2014
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

          P4.90
5.48
6.55
7.08

P4.00
4.43
4.87
6.10

Shareholder Information
The number of shareholders of record as of
December 31, 2016 was 8,663. Common shares
outstanding as of December 31, 2016 were
4,626,158,482.
Top 20 stockholders as of December 31, 2016
were:
Names
1
2
3
4

No. of Shares

13
14
15
16

%

Lopez, Inc.
    2,407,244,215 52.04%
PCD Nominee Corp. (Filipino)
    1,355,133,867 29.29%
PCD Nominee Corp. (Non-Filipino) 636,364,360 13.76%
First Phil. Holdings Corp.
Pension Fund
         50,000,000
1.08%
5 Mercantile Securities Corp.
         20,002,100 0.43%
6 Croslo Holdings Corporation
         12,032,687 0.26%
7 Lopez, Oscar Moreno
         11,095,677     0.24%
8 Lopez, Manuel M. &/or
Ma. Teresa Lopez
         10,985,000 0.24%

17
18
19
20

Lucio W. Yan &/or Clara Yan
           8, 216,500
Lopez, Manuel Moreno
           7,456,487
Lopez, Ma. Consuelo R.
           7, 292,225
Manuel Moreno Lopez or
Maria Teresa L. Lopez
           6,520,000
Montelibano, Andrew Ramon L.
6,089,604
Enriquez, Albert N.
           5,000,000
Lopez Inc. (Pledged to Metrobank) 3,375,730
Quality Investment & Sec. Corp.
A/C # 017003
           2,683,000
Montelibano, Jordana Eden
2,1 3 7,1 4 1
Ibanez, Elpidio Laureano
1,834,2 1 7
Ching Tiong Keng &/or Felix Chung
&/or Lin Lin Chung
           1,540,000
Mendoza, Alberto &/or
Jeanie Mendoza
           1,368,020

0. 18%
0. 16%
0. 16%
0. 14%
0. 13%
0. 1 1 %
0.07%
0.06%
0.05%
0.04%
0.03%
0.03%

Dividend Information
The Company is authorized to pay dividends
on the shares in cash, in additional shares, in
kind, or in a combination of the foregoing.
Dividends paid in cash are subject to approval
by the Board and no stockholder approval
is required. Dividends paid in the form of
additional shares are subject to approval by
the Board and holders of at least two-thirds of
the outstanding capital stock of the Company.
Holders of outstanding shares on a dividend
record date for such shares will be entitled to
the full dividend declared without regard to
any subsequent transfer of such shares.
Following were the dividends paid in the last
three years:
Cash
Dividend
Rate

Date
Approved
by the
Board of
Directors

Record
Date

Payment
Date

Total
Amount
Paid

P0.20 per
share

May 30,
2016

June 14,
2016

June 29,
2016

P924
million

P0.10 per
share

May 28,
2015

June 15,
2015

June 27,
2015

P463
million

P0.10 per
share

May 28,
2014

June 11,
2014

June 27,
2014

P463
million

As of the date hereof, the Board of Directors
has yet to declare a dividend payable in 2017.
There were no sales of unregistered securities.
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Control and Compensation Information
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

(a) Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners
as at December 31, 2016
As of December 31, 2016, the Company knows of no one who beneficially owns in excess of 50% of
the Company’s common stock except as set forth in the table below:
(1) Title of Class

(2) Name and address Record/
beneficial owner

(3) Amount and nature of beneficial
ownership (indicate by “r” or “b”)

(4) % of class

Common

Lopez, Inc.
5/F Benpres Building Meralco
Avenue, Ortigas Center, Pasig City

2,430,603,242  r *

52.5%

* Lopez, Inc. is the holding company of the Lopez family. It is owned by the respective holding companies of Oscar M. Lopez,
Manuel M. Lopez, Presentacion L. Psinakis, and Eugenio Lopez III and his siblings.
*  Lopez, Inc. issued Shares Purchase Rights (SPURs) to certain holders which give the holders thereof the right to delivery and/
or sale of common shares of Lopez Holdings and other rights relating to certain rights (other than voting rights) benefits,
distributions, payments, securities or any other property attributable to or derived from the shares.

(b)Security Ownership of Management as at December 31, 2016
(1) Name of beneficial
owner

(2) Position

(3) Amount and nature of
beneficial ownership

(4) %
ownership

Manuel M. Lopez

Chairman and CEO

25,617,897  r  (sole voting)

0.55%

Oscar M. Lopez

Chairman Emeritus

   11,632,408  r  (sole voting)

0.25%

Eugenio Lopez III

Vice Chairman

3,807,823  r  (sole voting)

0.08%

Federico R. Lopez

Treasurer

2,004,857  r  (sole voting)

0.04%

Salvador G. Tirona

Director, President, COO & CFO

405,905  r  (sole voting)

0.01%

Monico V. Jacob

Director

1 r (sole voting)

0.00%

Cesar E.A. Virata

Director

1 r (sole voting)

0.00%

Washington Z. Sycip

Director

1 r (sole voting)

0.00%

Miguel L. Lopez

SVP – Corporate Affairs

863,517  r  (sole voting)

0.02%

Enrique I. Quiason

Corporate Secretary

191,960  r  (sole voting)

0.00%

Maria Amina O. Amado

Assistant Corporate Secretary,
Compliance Officer and Vice President
– Legal

435,788  r  (sole voting)

0.01%

44,960,158 r  (sole voting)

0.97%

All directors and executive
officers as a group

There have not been any arrangements that have resulted in a change in control of the Company
during the period covered by this report. The Company is not aware of the existence of any voting
trust arrangement among the shareholders.
Parent of the Registrant and the Voting Securities Owned
Parent

No. of Shares Held

% to Total

Lopez, Inc.

2,430,603,242  

52.5%

* 8,840,670 shares representing 0.19% are covered by the SPURs issued by Lopez, Inc. to certain holders which give the holders
thereof the right to delivery and/or sale of common shares of Lopez Holdings and other rights relating to certain rights (other
than voting rights), distributions, payments, securities or any other property attributable to or derived from the shares.
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The Company retains the law firm of Quiason Makalintal Barrot Torres Ibarra and Sison for legal
services. During the last fiscal year, the Company paid Quiason Makalintal Barrot Torres Ibarra and
Sison, of which Mr. Enrique I. Quiason is a senior partner, legal fees which the Company believes to
be reasonable for the services rendered. Within the past three years, Quiason Makalintal Barot Torres
Ibarra and Sison rendered legal services in connection with debt buy-back.

Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers
Information as to the aggregate compensation paid or accrued during the last two fiscal years and
to be paid in the ensuing fiscal year to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and four other most
highly compensated executive officers follows (in million P):
Year
Chief Executive Officer
and four most highly
compensated executive
officers:
Oscar M. Lopez
Manuel M. Lopez
Salvador G. Tirona
Miguel L. Lopez
Maria Amina O. Amado /
Cielito R.A. Diokno for 2015

Bonus

Others

2015

P33.81

P12.67

–

2016

48.98

36.02

–

2017E

49.48

36.02

–

Year
All officers and directors
as a group unnamed

Salary

Salary

Bonus

Others

P44.24

P18.28

–

2016

5 1.34

36.90

–

2017E

56.47

36.90

–

2015

1) The directors receive standard per diem of P20,000, net of applicable taxes, per board meeting and P10,000 net of
applicable taxes per board committee meeting in 2016. Directors do not receive salaries nor allowances. Bonuses are given
to directors based on the profitability of the company during the immediately preceding year.
2) There are no other arrangements or consulting contracts on which any director is compensated, whether directly or
indirectly.
3) The directors do not have employment contracts. Their term of office is one year. The stockholders elect the members of
the board of directors during the annual stockholders’ meeting.
4) There is no compensatory plan or arrangement for the termination, resignation, or retirement of a member of the Board.
5) Since 2011, the Company’s executives were granted stock options. There were no warrants earned in 2016 and earlier years.
6) Details of any repricing of warrants and options – not applicable.
7) The Compensation and Remuneration Committee has established a formal and transparent procedure for developing
a policy on executive remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of corporate officers and directors. It has
three members, two of whom are independent directors, namely: Amb. Manuel M. Lopez (chairman), Cesar E.A. Virata and
Washington Z. SyCip.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following management’s discussion and
analysis of the Company’s financial condition
and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying audited
consolidated financial statements and the
related notes as at December 31, 2016 and
2015 and for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2016.

Consolidated costs and expenses decreased
by 10% to P67.408 billion from P74.670 billion,
reflecting essentially the decrease in the costs
of sale of electricity (-21%). Costs and expenses
for real estate (+63%), contracts and services
(+55%), merchandise sold (+24%), and general
and administrative expenses (-9%) also reflect
accounts consolidated by FPH.

PFRS 10 — Consolidated Financial Statements
replaces the portion of PAS 27 — Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements which
addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. A reassessment of
control was performed by the Group on all
its subsidiaries and associates in accordance
with the provisions of PFRS 10.  Following
the reassessment and based on the new
definition of control under PFRS 10, the Group
determined that it does not control ABS-CBN
(accounted for as a subsidiary in 2012 and prior
years) but it controls First Philippine Holdings
Corporation (FPH) (accounted for as an
associate in 2012 and prior years).   

Equity in net earnings of associates, PDRs and
a joint venture surged by 30%, representing
the record performance of ABS-CBN
Corporation for the period, as well as share in
the performance of FPH units. ABS-CBN’s net
income increased by 39% YoY. All other income
and expenses primarily reflect FPH accounts,
including the 198% increase in net other income
comprising one-time gains booked by FPH units.

As a result, since January 1, 2013, the Group
deconsolidated ABS-CBN and consolidated
FPH retrospectively.

Results of Operations for the
year ended December 31, 2016
compared with December 31, 2015
Lopez Holdings reported P6.557 billion in
net income attributable to equity holders of
the Parent in 2016. This is 6% higher than the
P6.191 billion in net income attributable to
equity holders of the Parent reported in 2015.
The steady performance of investees First
Philippine Holdings Corporation (FPH) and
ABS-CBN Corporation (ABS-CBN) accounted
for these results. FPH units also reported oneoff gains during the period.
Consolidated revenues decreased by 5% yearon-year (YoY) to P91.910 billion from P96.510
billion. This was primarily due to the decrease
in the sale of electricity (-11%) of FPH subsidiary
First Gen Corporation (FGEN). Revenues from
real estate (+41%), contracts and services (+37%)
and sale of merchandise (+3%) were higher.

Associates, PDRs and
joint venture
FPH posted an 84% increase in net income
attributable to equity holders of the parent
to P9.933 billion in 2016 from P5.406 billion
in 2015. It reported a 5% decrease in revenues
to P91.910 billion from P96.510 billion. Sale of
electricity accounted for 81% of revenues in
2016, and 86% of revenues in 2015. Costs and
expenses declined by 10% YoY. FPH registered
P6.432 billion in net other income during the
period, compared to P2.204 million in 2015.
Other income consists primarily of one-off
gains from arbitration settlement proceeds
received by the First Philec group, income
from First Philec affiliate First Philippine
Solar Corporation for the final settlement of
outstanding liabilities at lower than provision,
and collection of liquidated damages by FGEN
for the San Gabriel flex-plant.
ABS-CBN reported a 39% increase in net
income in 2016 to P3.525 billion from P2.545
billion, driven by an 11% growth in advertising
revenues that included election-related
spending. It reported revenues of P41.630
billion, 9% higher than P38.278 billion in 2015.
Ad revenues accounted for 57% of 2016
revenues, compared to 56% in 2015. The top 10
most watched TV programs from January to
December 2016 were all aired on ABS-CBN’s
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flagship Channel 2, based on average audience
share during the period.

financial performance of investees was within
expectations.

Key Performance Indicators

Lopez Holdings received cash dividends
amounting to P365 million from ABS-CBN
and P515 million from FPH in 2016. ABS-CBN
declared cash dividends of P0.75 per common
share in April, while FPH declared cash
dividends of P1 per common share in May and
the same in November.

As a holding company, Lopez Holdings receives
revenues from asset sales and dividends
from investees. Hence, the key performance
indicator with the most direct impact on
Lopez Holdings is the net income of investees.
Any dividend received by Lopez Holdings
is based on the investees’ net income in the
previous year. For the period in review, the

Following are the KPIs for Lopez Holdings for comparative periods 2016 and 2015:

KPI

Formula

Return on Average Stockholders’ Equity
— reflects how much the Company has
earned on the funds invested by the
shareholders

Net Income*/Average
Equity**

Dividend per share

December
2016

2015

11.42%

11.97%

P0.20

P0.10

Current Ratio — indicator of the
Company’s ability to pay short-term
obligations

Current assets/Current
liabilities

1.95

2.03

Earnings per Share — the portion of
the Company’s profit allocated to each
outstanding share of common stock

Net income*/ Weighted
average number of
shares

P1.4206

P1.3496

Book Value per Share — measure used
by owners of common shares of the
Company to determine the level of safety
associated with each individual share
after all debts are paid

Equity**/ Weighted
average number of
shares

P13.06

P11.88

* Net income attributable to equity holders of Parent
**Equity pertains to equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company and excludes
cumulative translation adjustments, share in other comprehensive income, effect of equity
transactions of subsidiaries
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The only operating subsidiary of Lopez Holdings is FPH. The KPIs of FPH (Consolidated) were:
December
2016
Financial ratios
Return on average stockholders’ equity
Interest coverage ratio
Earnings Per Share (diluted)
Assets to equity ratio
Long-term debt (net) to total equity ratio
Current ratio
Quick ratio
Book value per share (common)

11.48%
3.63
P17.74
2.46
1.15
1.94
1.33
P158.42

2015
6.75%
2.81
P9.58
2.67
1.33
2.04
1.45
P147.43

		
Return on average equity increased from
6.75%  in 2015 to 11.48% this year due to the
P4.5 billion or 84% jump in consolidated net
income attributable to equity holders of the
Parent  (from P5.4 billion to P9.9 billion).  
Correspondingly, earnings per common share
(diluted) also increased from P9.58 to P17.74 or
85% as the increase in net income attributable
to Parent resulted into higher net earnings
available to common shareholders for 2016.
Interest coverage ratio also improved from
2.81:1 in 2015 to 3.63:1 this year brought by the
stronger consolidated earnings before interest
and taxes (up by P8.3 billion or 33%).
The ratio of total assets to total equity
decreased from 2.67:1 in 2015 to 2.46:1 this year
mainly due to the P13.7 billion or 11% increase
in stockholder’s equity (from P127.5 billion in
December 2015 to P141.0 billion in December
2016). The growth in total equity was primarily
driven by the P6.4 billion or 52% increase in net
income for the current period, partly reduced
by the unrealized fair value losses (P2.4
billion) on the Group’s Meralco shares due the
decline in its share price. Consolidated net
income reached the P18.5 billion as the strong
earnings from operations were supplemented
by significant non-recurring gains from (a)
FNPC’s  receipt of P1.7 billion (after tax)
liquidated damages paid by its contractor for
delays in the construction of the San Gabriel
plant; and (b) First Philec and FPSC receipt
of arbitration settlement proceeds amounting
to P2.4 billion. Meanwhile, total assets in 2016

had a 2% modest increase from last year as
higher year end balances of Property, plant and
equipment and Investment Properties were
partially negated by the decline in Cash and
cash equivalents and Short-term investments.
The debt to equity ratio decreased from
1.33:1 in 2015 to 1.15:1 in 2016 mainly due to the
increase in stockholder’s equity supplemented
by lower total long term debt outstanding as of
year-end. The decline in total debt was largely
caused by the loan principal repayments
of the Group in 2016 tempered by the loan
drawdowns of FNPC ($35.4 million), Rockwell
(P4.0 billion), EDC (P3.5 billion), and First
Philec Inc. (P235 million).
Current ratio also registered a downward
movement from 2.04:1 in 2015 to 1.94:1 this
year primarily due to the P3.2 billion decline
in the total balance of current assets (from
P103.0 billion in December 2015 to P99.1 billion
in December 2016). Decline in current assets
was caused by the combined P9.3 billion or
20% drop in Cash and cash equivalents and
Short-term investments following the debt
service payments made by various companies
of the Group partly tempered by additional
drawdown of loans. Cash was also utilized for
the Group’s acquisition of various investments
and capital assets, and First Gen’s buyback of
its Series “F” and Series “G” preferred shares
during the year.
Similarly, quick ratio declined from 1.45:1 in 2015
to 1.33:1 this year also as a result of the decline
in Cash and Short-term investments partly
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tempered by the increase in Trade and other
receivables. Trade and other receivables were
up by P3.6 billion or 13% primarily on account
of the higher trade receivable balances of
First Gen’s EDC, FNPC, and PMPC as well as
Rockwell.
Book value per common share grew from
P147.43 in 2015 to P158.42 this year.  The
increase was brought about by the P6.1 billion
or 8% increase (from P81.7 billion* in December
2015 to P87.8 billion* in December 2016) in
equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent, which mostly reflects the net income
generated during the period.

Financial Condition
Changes in: Cash and cash equivalents
(-22%), short-term investments (-10%), trade
and other receivables (+15%), inventories
(+4%), other current financial assets (-7%),
prepayments and other current assets (+23%),
assets of discontinued operations held for
sale (-100%), property, plant and equipment
(+6%), investments accounted for at equity
method (+8%), available-for-sale financial
assets (-12%), goodwill and intangible assets

(-1%), investment properties (+20%), net
deferred tax assets (+8%), other noncurrent
financial assets (+11%), other noncurrent
assets (+8%), trade payables and other
current liabilities (+7%), loans payable (-31%),
income tax payable (+43%), current portion
of long-term debts (+3%), liabilities related
to assets of discontinued operations held for
sale (-100%), long-term debts-net of current
portion (-5%), derivative liabilities (-34%),
deferred tax liabilities (+20%), retirement and
other long-term employee benefits liability
(-24%), asset retirement and preservation
obligations (+0.2%), other noncurrent liabilities
(+3%), capital stock (+1%), unrealized fair
value gains on investments in equity securities
(-41%), cumulative translation adjustments
(-15%), equity reserve (+2%), and share-based
payment plans (-87%) are FPH accounts.
Capital in excess of par value (+176%) reflects
the effect of the exercise of Employee Stock
Option and full payment of Employee Stock
Purchase Plans during the year. Increase in
retained earnings (+11%) reflects the net income
for the period minus dividends paid. Lopez
Holdings paid out cash dividends of P0.20 per
common share in June 2016.
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Report of the Audit Committee
For the year ended December 31, 2016

To Our Stockholders:
The Audit Committee (Committee) represents and assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its oversight
responsibilities by reviewing the financial information which are provided to the shareholders and other
stakeholders, the system of internal controls which management and the Board of Directors have established,
the performance and selection of independent accountants, and the Company’s audit and financial reporting
and risk management processes for compliance with laws and regulations. The Committee also has the primary
responsibility for recommending the appointment, re-appointment, and removal of the external auditor.
The Committee operates under a written Audit Committee Charter to conform to Securities and Exchange
Commission Memorandum Circular No. 4 Series of 2012 (SEC Circular No. 4), specifically on the guidelines in
assessing the performance of the Audit Committee of companies listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange. Your
Committee accomplishes self-assessment on its performance based on the requirement of said circular. The
results are subsequently discussed.
As of December 31, 2016, the Committee has three members: all independent directors. Your Chairman attended
the last three annual stockholders’ meetings.
The Committee had three meetings in 2016, which included separate executive sessions of the Committee with
the audit engagement partner of the independent registered public accounting firm, the internal auditors and
management relative to the review and approval of the independent auditor’s plan and the audited financial
statements for 2016. Other meetings relate to the regulatory periodic financial filings and the conduct of the
Audit Committee Members’ Performance Assessment.
In accordance with its Charter, the Committee reviewed and approved the independent auditor’s plan for the
audit of Lopez Holdings’ 2016 financial statements, including the major issues related to the audit of the financial
statements as presented by the audit engagement partner.
The Committee reviewed the Company’s annual audited financial statements and related disclosures, including
(a) the quality as well as acceptability of the accounting principles applied in the financial statements and (b)
new accounting standards, significant estimates, judgments, uncertainties and accounting policies relating to
significant financial statement items, and discussed them with the independent auditors and with management,
which has the primary responsibility for the financial statements.
The Company’s independent auditor is responsible for expressing an opinion on the conformity of the company’s
audited financial statements with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.
After diligent review and annual evaluation, the Committee:
• finds that the internal controls/risk management systems of the Company remain adequate;
• affirms that the audited financial statements are true and fairly present the performance of the Company; and
• endorses the reappointment of the current external auditor.
This report is respectfully submitted in behalf of the Committee of the Board, who likewise approved this report.

Cesar E. A. Virata
Chairman, Audit Committee

April 6, 2016
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The management of Lopez Holdings Corporation is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements including the schedules attached herein, as of December 31,
2016 and 2015 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2016, in accordance
with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.
The Board of Directors review and approves the financial statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.
SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co., the independent auditors appointed by the stockholders, have examined
the financial statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and
in its report to the stockholders, have expressed their opinion on the fairness of presentation upon
completion of such audit.

Ambassador Manuel M. Lopez
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Salvador G. Tirona
President, Chief Operating Officer and Chief Finance Officer

Milani S. Caimol
Assistant Vice President — Financial Management
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Lopez Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Amounts in Millions)
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For The Years Ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014
(Amounts in Millions)

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity

Lopez Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Lopez Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Amounts in Millions)
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Abbreviations/Acronyms used in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Corporate
Directory
Lopez Holdings Corporation
4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road, 1605 Pasig City
T (632) 449 2345

First Philippine Holdings
Corporation

6/F Rockwell Business Center Tower 3
Ortigas Avenue, 1604 Pasig City
T (632) 555 8000

First Gen Corporation

6/F Rockwell Business Center Tower 3
Ortigas Avenue, 1604 Pasig City
T (632) 449 6400

Energy Development Corporation
38/F One Corporate Center
Julia Vargas corner Meralco Avenue,
Ortigas Center, 1605 Pasig City
T (632) 755 2332

Rockwell Land Corporation
The Garage at Rockwell Center
Estrella St., 1209 Makati City
T (632) 403 0088

ABS-CBN Corporation

Sgt. Esguerra Ave. corner Mother Ignacia St.
1101 Diliman, Quezon City
T (632) 924 4101 to 22

Sky Cable Corporation

6/F ELJ Building, Eugenio Lopez Drive,
1101 Diliman, Quezon City
T (632) 924 4101 to 22
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Shareholder
Assistance
Investor and Stakeholder Relations
Carla Paras-Sison
4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road, 1605 Pasig City
Telephone (632) 633 3388
Fax (632) 634 3009
Email cpsison@lopez-holdings.ph

Stock and Transfer Agent
Securities Transfer Services, Inc.
G/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road, 1605 Pasig City
T (632) 490 0060 to 63

External Auditors

SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co.
SGV Building
6760 Ayala Ave., Makati City
T (632) 891 0307

Legal Counsel

The Law Firm of Quiason Makalintal Barot
Torres Ibarra and Sison
21/F Robinsons-PCIBank Tower
ADB Ave. corner Poveda Road
1605 Pasig City
T (632) 631 0981

Bankers

Bank of the Philippine Islands
BDO Unibank, Inc.
ING Bank Manila
Union Bank of the Philippines
Maybank Philippines, Inc.
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4/F Benpres Building
Exchange Road Corner Meralco Avenue
1605 Pasig City, Philippines
T (632) 449 2345
www.lopez-holdings.ph
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